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‘A
nanda Chandrika” and its
founder Artistic Director
Amita Dutt presented Sri-
jana Chhande - In the

Rhythm of Creation recently at
Rabindra Sadan. The concept, chore-
ography and direction was by Amita
Dutt. Chandrachur Bhattacharjee’s
music composition accompanied the
dances. It was a clearly conceptualised
presentation.

The dancers were Shramana
Chattopadhyay, Sanchita Bhattachar-
jee, Rina Pyne, Pampa Paul, Pampa
Ray Biswas, Sharmistha Chakraborty,
Swarnali Moulick and Bidisha Jana.
The production was supported by the
Ministry of Culture, Government of
India, Sangeet Natak Akademi and La
Opala RG Ltd.

“The last two years have been dis-
mal and dreary. Many of us have suf-
fered from the dreaded disease Covid

and some of us have lost our near and
dear ones too. All joyous activity came
to a standstill and even our daily rou-
tine was upset. The dance of death
seemed to pervade our earth and we
were helpless in the midst of this ago-
nizing experience,” said Amita Dutt.

The reflection of the two past
years made Amita Dutt judiciously
select 'Ondhokarer Utso Hote Utsarito
Alo' as the opening dance of her festi-
val that celebrated the coming back to
normal times, when in place of online

dance experiences, connoisseurs and
aficionados once again go to halls and
sabhas to appreciate aesthetic presen-
tations. Life seems to have emerged
after darkness. At the end of the dark
tunnel of depressing times there was
hope. 

The sound of mellifluous flute
music, reverberating ankle bells and
the vibrant veena playing from afar
were audible to the mind’s ears of the
artistes. Their imaginations were alive
and what was missed in real life was

compensated through fanciful think-
ing. The Almighty was implored to give
up Destruction and Dance in the
Rhythm of Creation. These musings
gave birth to Amita Dutt’s new pro-
duction “Srijana Chhande”.

The invocation - a dance to
Tagore’s lyric, “Ondhokarer utso
hote Utsarito Alo” was about
the emergence of light from
the abysmal depths of
darkness. This was
followed by “Srijana

Chhande”,
which was a
prayer to
the

Almighty
to forget Destruction
and Dance in the
Rhythm of Creation.
The entire production
consisted of offerings
through Kathak Dance,
based on timeless lyrics
that extol the magnifi-
cent power of dance
and music in uplifting
the spirits of man and
filling his heart with
vitality and exulta-
tion.

The dance
pieces presented
were all chosen

from timeless Bengali lyrics like Sri-
jana Chhande by Kazi Nazrul Islam in
Raaga Tilak Kamod and taala Jhaptaal;
Mama Chitte Niti Nritye by
Rabindranath Tagore in Misra Raaga
and Taala Shashti – a raga created by
Tagore himself.

Nupura Beje Jai by Rabindranath
Tagore in Misra Raaga and Taala Tri-
taal and Jhan jhan jhan jhaan Manjira
by Sachin Dev Burman in Raaga
Chhaya Naut and Taala Tritaal trans-
ported the rasikas to a world of beauty
and truth.

Bansi sune ki by R.D. Burman in
Raaga Mian ki Malhar and Taala Tri-
taal was practically the harbinger of
monsoon, the season that followed
soon after. The mellifluous melody of
Baaje go Beena by Salil Choudhury in
Raaga Misra Rageshree and Taala

Kaharva reverberated through the
hall, bringing joy in its wake.

These lyrics have all been in
the Kathak genre employing

both the abstract and
expressive

aspects

of this dance form. The beautiful
dance genre of the North mingled with
the poetic flow of the east to create
untold beauty.

During the lockdown period
“Ananda Chandrika”  had arranged a
Navaratri Arts Competition on its
Facebook page nomenclatured

“Ananda Chan-
drika Arena”. The

Judges for the
event and
the Award
winning
candidates
were hon-

oured in this
function.

The writer is a
senior dance critic.

SOMEN SENGUPTA

A
s soon as the British rule in
India was cemented in June of
1757, the investment of British
capital through the East India

Company and individual traders flood-
ed the country. It pushed Calcutta to
emerge as one of the prime cities of
Asia, marked by its cosmopolitan cul-
ture.

From 1760 onwards, Calcutta
started experiencing unimaginable
growth as a city where a new European
wave was washing away almost every-
thing that was traditional and orthodox.
With a new medium of education and
new system of land revenue like per-
manent settlement, Bengal was gradu-
ally becoming a potboiler of the new
Anglo-Indian culture and side by side it
was also becoming a European colony

with
clubs,
secret societies, public library, debat-
ing society, literary clubs and the rise
of theatre in pure European form.

Records show that the first Euro-
pean theatre in Calcutta was established
in 1756 and named New Play House.
The theatre was destroyed during Siraj-
Ud-Daulah’s Calcutta attack. In 1775, a
modern theatre named The Calcutta
theatre was established. Such was its
grandeur that it was described an equal
to “the most splendid European exhibi-
tion.” It was shut down in 1808.

In 1795, a Russian named Gerasim
Stepanovich Lebedev founded Bengali
Theatre. The first plays were staged on

27 November 1795. The names of the
plays were “The Disguise” and “Love is
The Best Doctor”.   

The next 50 years saw a revolution
in European theatre. One after another,
theatre buildings started coming up
and they saw some of the finest per-
formers playing on their stages with
best possible sets, outfits, light and
sound. As Calcutta was already the rich-
est post of Britain in Asia by then, it had
attracted a huge number of European
residents. Theatre became their best
entertainment. For Europeans of that
time, no Indian city offered the lifestyle
Calcutta did and theatre was one of the

main reasons.
The best theatre of Calcutta was

then Chowringhee Theatre which was
situated at the crossing of Chowringhee
road and Theatre road.

Founded in 1813, this log-made
building was gutted in 1839 causing
much dismay to Calcutta’s theatre-
going crowd. The land was soon pur-
chased by Prince Dwarakanath Tagore
at a price of Rs 30,100. It was because of
this that the road adjacent to it came to
be known as Theatre Road.

This fire made Calcutta’s top
actress Esther Leach known as the
“Queen of Indian stage” jobless. After
making her debut here on 27 July 1826
at the age of seventeen, she was then
at the pinnacle of her career.

A jobless Ms Leach initiated plans
to build a new theatre and she man-
aged to convince very influential per-
sons of that era. One was Lord Auck-
land and other two were Prince
Dwarakanath Tagore and mostly
importantly Mr Stocqueler, then the
editor of The Englishman, the most
popular newspaper among the Anglo-
American population of Calcutta.

It was decided that donations
would be invited to build a new Euro-
pean-styled theatre with all modern
facilities. Lord Auckland donated Rs
1,000 while a sum of Rs 16,000 was col-

lected from the public. Dwarakanath
Tagore also made a large donation.

On 21 August 1839, Ms Leach final-
ly managed to open a new theatre
named Sans Souci in Waterloo street.
It could seat 400 people.

Meanwhile a plot at Park Street
was purchased to build a completely
new modern theatre named Sans Souci.
The plot was at 10 Park Street. The the-
atre building was completed in 1840
but the first play performed there was
on 8 March 1841.

The new Sans Souci theatre was an
amazing structure designed by J.W
Collins. A flight of stairs from the base
used to meet at the landing. The build-
ing was 200 ft long and 50 ft wide with a
high portico. The stage was 28 ft by 50 ft,
and its lighting was contemporary. The
hall was airy and had proper ventilation.
It was made with the best of material
and was the biggest venue of entertain-
ment for the city’s European communi-
ty.

With Bengal Club nearby, the pres-
ence of this theatre ensured that the Park
Street became the social hub of the
street, as it has remained. From here Ms
Leach became a legend in Calcutta’s
entertainment world and she became
the biggest rival of a talented actress from
Australia named Maria Madeline Tylor.

San Souci had its golden time from

1841 to the end of 1843 when a tragic
accident on the stage ended the life of
Ms Leach. As on every evening, the the-
atre was packed to capacity on 2
November 1843. That day, a famous
actor and director James Vining who
was travelling to India came to San
Souci for a performance with Ms. Leach.

Ms. Leach, who was also in the
play, came close to the lamps wrongly
placed on the stage and her dress
caught fire. Though the fire was
promptly extinguished, she suffered
severe burns. The show was called off
and she was immediately taken to her
residence at 11 Park Street. After a fort-
night’s battle, she died on 18 November
1843, and was buried at the Bhowa-
nipur Military emetery.

This tragic accident earned San
Souci a bad name. The property was
leased to a French company who were
not serious to run it on a regular basis.
They last performed there on 24 April
1844. Thereafter, it was used sporadi-
cally. A revolutionary event did take
place on its stage in 1848, when for the
first time an Indian named Baishnav
Charan Adya played the title role in a
production of Shakespeare’s Othello.
This amateur actor later played a sig-
nificant role in establishing the Calcut-
ta Training School in 1859. His name is
sadly banished to oblivion.

San Souci has no relics left today
of its theatre days, but the site houses
one of the prime educational institu-
tions of the city, St Xavier’s college.

In September 1849, Father Carew
purchased the theatre at a price of Rs
27500 and moved his St John’s College
there. The college was closed in 1855
and on 16 January 1860 a group of Bel-
gian Jesuits took over both 11 and 10
Park Street to establish St Xavier’s Col-
lege.  Later these two plots got a new
number, 30 Park Street, as their
address. On many counts San Souci has
a importance place in Calcutta’s cultur-
al heritage. It is sad that not many
records are available about the theatre
and there are hardly one or two pho-
tographs now available.

The writer is a freelance contributor.

11NEW DELHI, FRIDAY 26 AUGUST 2022

The Sans Souci
theatre is a
fading memory,
but it was once
the heart of the
city�s
entertainment
scene.

Return to life celebrated
After the darkness of the lockdowns, dance

celebrated the emergence of hope

Teacher and the taught

Ananda Chandrika's repertoire group

Amita Dutt's students

Priyadarshini Ghosh and Mohana Iyer


